
Page 1  of 5 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

 

 

CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
SPECIAL MEETING 
TUESDAY, JUNE 16, 2020 

4:00 PM 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT 

Ernest Sutton - Chairman 
Johnson Biggs - Vice Chairman 
Carlton O'Neal (Absent) 
Suzanne Stallings 
Gary White 

 
Also present were Kellen Long, Planner and; Angela Judge, Assistant City Manager. 

 

Chairman Sutton called the meeting to order at approximately 4:16 PM and stated a 
quorum. 

 
Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the agenda as presented. 
Commissioner Biggs made a motion to APPROVE the agenda as presented. 
Commissioner White seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings, White, AND 
Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED. 

 
Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the Tuesday, May 5, 2020 Planning 
Commission minutes. Commissioner Biggs made a motion to APPROVE the Tuesday, 
May 5, 2020 Planning Commission minutes. Commissioner Stallings seconded the 
motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings, White, Johnson and Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. 
MOTION CARRIED. 

 

Ms. Long, read the STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE as follows: 

 
Elizabeth City Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be 

independent, impartial, and responsible to the public; that government decisions and 

policy be made in proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not 

be used for personal gain; and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its 

government. In recognition of these goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of 

conduct for city public officials and its employees, disclosure of interest in legislative 

action must be stated for public record, as per City of Elizabeth City Code of Ordinances 

Section 32.04. Any official act or action before the Planning Commission shall be 

publicly disclose on the record of the Commission the nature and extent of such interest 

and the Commissioner shall withdraw from any consideration of the matter if excused 

by the Commission pursuant to G. S. 160 A-75. 



Page 2  of 5 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

 

Chairman Sutton read the new business item as follows: 

CASE NO: TA 01-20 is a proposal to clarify and modify the development regulations 
for the Halstead Boulevard Extension Overlay District, specifically Article XII, Section 12- 
10 and Article XI, Sections 11-1.1(J) and (U). 

 
Planner Long stated for the record that property owners within the Halstead Overlay 
District have been notified three separate times of the proposed text amendment. 
Planner Long stated that all property owners were encouraged to submit written 
comments to Staff for Planning Commission to review pertaining to the proposed text 
amendment. 

 

Planner Long also stated that developers and stakeholders within the Halstead 
Extension Overlay District had consistently been a part of the text amendment process 
from the beginning. 

 

Planner Long began her PowerPoint presentation: 

Planner Long started with Chapter 11, explaining the changes made to the definitions of 

entry markers and the deletion of the portal monument definition. Planner Long stated 

that no changes had been made to this section since the text amendment was first 

purposed in March. 

Planner Long stated that in Chapter 12, the building and façade design section was 

changed to reflect the comment from Commissioner Biggs at the March Planning 

Commission Meeting, in regards to the awnings and arcades have a width at least 

double that of the doorway. Planner Long stated that the text was now consistent 

throughout the document regarding this section. 

Planner Long then moved on to the landscaping section in Chapter 12. Planner Long 

stated that this amendment had not changed since the text amendment was first 

purposed in March. She stated that the biggest changes for this section including 

eliminating the 20% additional landscaping requirement in the vehicular surface area 

and reducing the tree and shrub requirement in the Halstead Boulevard Buffer area. 

Planner Long then presented a landscaping case study to the Commission. 

Planner Long then presented on ground cover. Planner Long explained that with the 

past few site plans received in the Halstead Overlay District, staff had noticed an 

increase of ground cover proposed for site plan development by landscape architects. 

Planner Long then explained the new proposed ordinance regarding the ground cover. 

Commissioner Stallings stated concern on the current ratio staff proposed regarding 

how many ground cover plants would equal once shrub. Commissioner Stallings 

suggested that Staff reconsider the proposed ratio to read two (1 gallon) ground cover 



Page 3  of 5 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

 

plants shall be equal to one (3 gallon) shrub because the rate of growth for common 

ground covers. 

Planner Long then proceeded with her presentation regarding subdivision street trees. 

Planner Long then explained the difference in the timeframe of when subdivision street 

trees would be planted and the landscaping for a commercial development. 

Planner long then explained what subdivisions street trees were, where they are 

supposed to be located, and the purpose of adding a definition for street trees in the 

ordinance. 

Planner Long then explained the definition of a parkway, its purpose, and the role it 

plays with street design. Planner Long then explained the proposed minimum size 

requirement for parkways and why that four-foot minimum width is important. 

Planner Long then presented an illustration to the Commission showing the parkway, 

sidewalk, property line, street trees, and curb in relation to each other. 

Commissioner Biggs stated concern regarding the planting of trees in a compact area 

and revisited the idea of providing a list of trees that the landscape architect would 

work with that they would know would work well in the small areas and also be 

appropriate for our area. 

Commissioner Stallings supported Commissioner Johnson’s idea. 

Commissioner Stallings suggested text referencing plant lists from either North Carolina 

Department of Transportation or North Carolina Cooperative Extension that would be 

conducive to our area. 

Planner Long then discussed the proposed text amendment to include pedestrian 

walkways. 

Planner Long discussed the purpose of the pedestrian walkways in larger parking lots 

and the criteria in which a developer would be required to install them. 

Planner Long then discussed the proposed change for ground signs that allows them to 

be 8 feet in height above the highest adjacent elevation 

Planner Long then moved on to the stormwater pond section in the proposed text 

amendment document. 

Planner Long stated that the stormwater pond ordinance had not changed in context 

since the initial proposal in March, however, the sentence structure had was changed to 

give clarity for developers. 

Planner Long read the stormwater ordinance aloud to the Commission and audience. 



Page 4  of 5 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

 

Commissioner White stated his concern of the stormwater ordinance based on 

discussions with different developers in the Halstead Overlay District. 

Assistant City Manager Judge stated the stormwater pond amenities, such as benches 

and trails were encouraged, however, not require for developers. Assistant City 

Manager Judge stated that the developer would have the right to choose whether or 

not stormwater pond amenities would work for their development, considering their 

own liability. 

Planner Long then presented examples of different stormwater pond amenities used 

throughout commercial and residential development. 

Planner Long then discussed the proposed text amendment for an administrative 

variance. Planner Long read the proposed text aloud. 

Commissioner Biggs asked staff is the use of the term Community Development 

Director would cover anyone filling the role of Director, if the Director was absence. 

Assistant City Manager Judge stated that the preferred term to use in this situation 

would be Zoning Administrator and explained her reasoning. 

This concluded Planner Long’s presentation 

Planner Long stated that staff’s recommendation to Planning Commission is to 

recommend approval of the proposed text amendment to City Council with 

consideration of the minors changes discussed during the meeting. 

Staff asked the Commission if there were any others questions or comments. 

Commissioner Stallings asked about the requirement in the landscaping section 

regarding native plants. Commissioner Stallings stated that to achieve 50% native 

plants in a site development would be very difficult considering the wide variety of 

cultivating methods. Commissioner Stallings suggested that the term “nativar” be used 

to represent cultivated varieties. 

Commissioner Stallings also asked if staff had considered suggesting seasonal planting 

change outs in the text. 

Planner Long stated that seasonal change outs were considered, however, attempting 

to keep up with different developments after the site improvements had been 

completed throughout the seasons or years to verify if property owners or developers 

were implementing those change outs, was too much for staff to take on at this time. 

Commissioner Stallings then asked for clarity regarding natural ground cover material in 

vehicular surface areas versus landscape areas. 

Planner Long clarified this section. 



Page 5  of 5 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

 

This concluded the Commission’s questions and comments. 

Chairman Sutton asked if there was a motion to recommend approval. 

Commissioner Stallings made a motion to recommend APPROVAL of TA 01-20. 

Commissioner Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings, White, 

Johnson, AND Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED. 

 
Staff Report: 

 

Planner Long reported that the 160D text amendment would be coming forward in 
August for review. 

 
There were no further staff items to report. 

 

Chairman’s Report: 

 

Chairman Sutton advised the Commission on Director Thompson’s illness. Chairman 
Sutton also thanked staff for their work on the Halstead Overlay text amendment. 

 

Member Concerns: 

 
There were no member concerns. 

 

Commissioner White made a motion to ADJOURN the Tuesday, June 16, 2020 Special 
Planning Commission meeting. Commissioner Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN 
FAVOR: O'NEAL, WHITE, Johnson, AND BIGGS. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION 
CARRIED. 

 
Planning Commission adjourned at 5:25 PM. 

 
 
Respectively submitted, 

 
 
Kellen Long 
Planner II 


